

# The reformed system for children and young people with Special Educational Needs in England

Standard Note: SN/SP/7020

Last updated: 27 November 2014

Author: Robert Long

Section Social Policy Section

The *Children and Families Act 2014* provided for an overhaul of the system for identifying children and young people in England with special educational needs (SEN), assessing their needs and making provision for them.

In England, the dual system of SEN statements for children and Learning Difficulty Assessments for 16 to 25 year olds is being replaced by a new single system of birth-to-25 assessments and Education, Health and Care Plans. The reformed system was introduced in September 2014, with transitional arrangements for those who already have plans in place. Transition to the reformed system is intended to be complete by April 2018.

This note provides an overview of the new system, the transitional arrangements, and how the new system differs from that which preceded it.

This information is provided to Members of Parliament in support of their parliamentary duties and is not intended to address the specific circumstances of any particular individual. It should not be relied upon as being up to date; the law or policies may have changed since it was last updated; and it should not be relied upon as legal or professional advice or as a substitute for it. A suitably qualified professional should be consulted if specific advice or information is required.

This information is provided subject to our general terms and conditions which are available online or may be provided on request in hard copy. Authors are available to discuss the content of this briefing with Members and their staff, but not with the general public.

# **Contents**

1	The	The previous system for children and young people with SEN and the process of		
refo	rm		3	
	1.1	A brief overview of the previous system	3	
	1.2	Momentum for change	4	
		Concerns about the operation of the system	4	
		Green Paper on a reformed system	5	
	1.3	Developing Legislation	6	
	1.4	The Children and Families Act 2014	7	
2	The new system (from September 2014)			
	2.1	Definition of SEN	7	
	2.2	The reformed system: levels of support	8	
		SEN Support	8	
		Education, Health and Care Plans	9	
	2.3	The reformed system: changes from the previous system	9	
	2.4	The reformed system: implementation	10	
		The local offer	10	
		Education, Health and Care Plans: requirements on authorities	10	
		EHC plans for 19-25 year olds with SEN	11	
		Personal budgets	11	
		Further requirements for September 2014 and beyond	12	
		Requirement for consultation with children, young people, and their parents	14	
		Implementation: Further education	15	
		SEN Improvement Test	15	
	2.5	Transitional arrangements for children and young people in the existing syste	m16	
		Children in school	16	
		Young people in Further Education	18	
	2.6	Young people in custody	18	
3	Fun	ding	19	

# 1 The previous system for children and young people with SEN and the process of reform

The system in place for children and young people with Special Educational Needs (SEN) has undergone significant reform through the *Children and Families Act 2014*. This first section of this note provides brief information on the previously existing system, and the lengthy process towards reform, as well as references for more detailed information on these matters.

It should be noted that this system remains in place for many children and young people already recognised as having SEN and receiving support. It will continue to do so until the transition to the reformed system is completed in April 2018.

# 1.1 A brief overview of the previous system

The previous system for children with SEN was provided for in Part 4 of the *Education Act* 1996, as amended, and with associated regulations.

The then-existing statutory code of practice, which maintained schools must have regard to, set out a graduated approach to SEN that recognised a continuum of SEN which might require increasing action by a school. There were three levels of intervention for pupils with SEN.

**School Action** – where the teacher or the school Special Educational Needs Coordinator (SENCO) decides to provide something for the child additional to or different from the school's usual differentiated approach to help children learn. In January 2010, 11.4 per cent of the school population were identified at School Action level, approximately 916,000 pupils;

**School Action Plus** – where the school consults specialists and requests help from external services. In January 2010, 6.2 per cent of the school population were at School Action Plus level, approximately 496,000 pupils; and

**Statement** – where the child requires support beyond that which the school can provide and the local authority arranges appropriate provision. In January 2010, 2.7 per cent of the school population or 221,000 pupils had a statement of SEN.<sup>1</sup>

Provisions were in place for children younger than school age, but most statements were made for school-aged children. The governing bodies of maintained schools were required to use their best endeavours to secure appropriate SEN provision for any pupil with SEN, and had to appoint a member of the school staff to be a Special Educational Needs Coordinator (SENCO).<sup>2</sup>

Each local authority was responsible for identifying the children in their area who have SEN of a kind that may call for SEN provision.<sup>3</sup> Having identified a child with SEN, the local authority were required to notify the parent that they were considering whether to make a formal (statutory) assessment of the child's needs. After a statutory assessment the local authority would decide whether it was necessary to make a statement of SEN. A parent could also request a local authority to arrange a statutory assessment of a child for whom the authority was responsible and for whom no statement had already been made.

Department for Education, Support and aspiration: a new approach to special educational needs and disability, March 2011, paragraph 25

Education Act 1996, section 317; Education and Inspections Act 2006, section 173

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Education Act 1996, section 321

A statement of SEN described, in six parts, the child's needs and the special provision needed. Provision was also in place for statements to be reviewed.

The local authority was obliged to enable parents to express a preference for a school, and was required to name the preferred school on the statement unless it was unsuitable for the child's age, aptitude, ability or his/her SEN, or the placement would be incompatible with the efficient education of other children with whom the child would be educated or with the efficient use of resources.<sup>4</sup> The local authority was also responsible for arranging the provision in the statement.

#### **Academies and SEN**

Academies operate in accordance with their individual funding agreement. Those academies that had been established since the *Academies Act 2010* were required to comply with section 1(7) of the *Academies Act 2010*, which imposed obligations on them equivalent to those contained in Part 4 of the *Education Act 1996*. The requirements on academies established before the 2010 Act depended upon the exact terms of an individual academy's funding agreement.

# Post-16 provision

Under the previous system, a statement of SEN stopped if a young person left school at 16. However, if the person remained at school, the local authority could maintain a statement until s/he reached 19 or until the end of the school year when s/he finished the course. If the young person left school for further education, his/her SEN was assessed under a different process, the Learning Difficulty Assessment (LDA). Section 139a of the *Learning and Skills Act 2000* placed local authorities under a duty to arrange a LDA for students in their last year of compulsory education who had a statement of SEN and who were expected to continue in post-16 education. Local authorities also had the power to undertake LDAs for young people who did not have a statement but who appeared to have learning difficulties and were receiving, or were likely to receive post-16 education. LDAs however did not have the statutory rights and protections associated with statements of SEN.

#### 1.2 Momentum for change

#### Concerns about the operation of the system

During the later period of the 1997-2010 Labour Government, concerns were raised about the operation of the SEN system. In July 2006, the then Select Committee on Children, Schools and Families reported on special educational needs, and highlighted strong concerns about parents' confidence in the SEN system. The report raised issue about the statementing process and the issuing of statements; transfer of statements; placement decisions; the role of local authorities; school admissions and fair access for children with SEN; and, parental choice in relation to academies. The Library Standard Note SN/SP/3375 provides background on the Committee's report and the Labour Government's response to it.

Part of the Labour Government's response to the issues raised by the Select Committee was to ask Brian Lamb, the chair of the Special Educational Consortium, to carry out an inquiry into how parental confidence in the SEN assessment process might be improved. A series of reports were published.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Education Act 1996, Schedule 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> These are currently available on the National Archives website.

In addition, a number of reports looked at specific aspects of SEN provision<sup>6</sup> and an Ofsted review of SEN, *Special educational needs and disability review – a statement is not enough*, commissioned by the Labour Government, was published in September 2010.<sup>7</sup>

#### Green Paper on a reformed system

In July 2010, speaking at an Every Disabled Child Matters event, Sarah Teather, the then Children's Minister, said that the new Government would publish a green paper on SEN.

A Call for Views on the planned Green Paper was published in September 2010, and set out that the Government was considering a range of options including how to

- give parents a choice of educational settings that can meet their child's needs
- transform funding for children with SEN and disabilities and their families, making the system more transparent and cost-effective while maintaining a high quality of service
- prevent the unnecessary closure of special schools, and involve parents in any decisions about the future of special schools
- support young people with SEN and disabilities post-16 to help them succeed after education
- improve diagnosis and assessment to identify children with additional needs earlier<sup>8</sup>

The Green Paper, *Support and aspiration: a new approach to special educational needs and disability* was published in March 2011, and contained wide-ranging proposals to reform the system. The then Education Secretary, Michael Gove, announced the detailed proposals in a Written Ministerial Statement on 9 March 2011.<sup>9</sup>

The Green Paper said that the Government would 'remove the bias towards inclusion' and improve the range and diversity of schools so as to:

give parents a real choice of school, either a mainstream or special school. We will remove the bias towards inclusion and propose to strengthen parental choice by improving the range and diversity of schools from which parents can choose, making sure they are aware of the options available to them and by changing statutory guidance for local authorities. Parents of children with statements of SEN will be able to express a preference for any state-funded school – including special schools, Academies and Free Schools – and have their preference met unless it would not meet the needs of the child, be incompatible with the efficient education of other children, or be an inefficient use of resources. We will also prevent the unnecessary closure of special schools by giving parents and community groups the power to take them over<sup>10</sup>

A consultation on the Green Paper was conducted between March and June 2011.

<sup>6</sup> See Library Standard Note SN/SP/5781

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Library Standard Note SN/SP/5781 for further background on the Ofsted review.

Department for Education, Children's Minister unveils plans for education of SEN pupils, 10 September 2010

<sup>9</sup> HC Deb 9 March 2011 cc63-5WS

Support and aspiration: a new approach to special educational needs and disability, Executive summary, paragraph 7

# 1.3 Developing Legislation

The transition from the Green Paper to legislation was lengthy. This section provides a brief overview of the various stages. More detailed information is provided in the following Library notes; these papers were written contemporaneously and so reflect the then-current position:

- The green paper on special educational needs and disability, SN/SP/5917, July 2012
- Draft legislation on provision for children and young people with special educational needs, SN/SP/6420, September 2012

In May 2012, the Government published its detailed response to the formal public consultation on the Green Paper: *Support and aspiration: a new approach to special educational needs and disability - progress and next steps.*<sup>11</sup> This announced that a draft Bill for reform would be published in summer 2012, and would be subject to consultation and pre-legislative scrutiny before changes to the law were made. The response stated that the Government wanted to introduce reforms to come into effect in 2014.

Some work had already commenced on proposed changes. Twenty SEN pathfinders had been announced in October 2011.<sup>12</sup> These covered 31 local authorities and their PCT and emerging Clinical Commissioning Group partners. In a Written Ministerial Statement in May 2012, Michael Gove said that the draft Bill would be informed by early lessons from the SEN pathfinders.

In October 2012, the DFE published an Interim Evaluation Report of the pathfinder programme. Amongst other things, the report said that the current pace of progress was behind that expected and was unlikely to provide sufficient evidence to inform the evaluation within the original 18-month evaluation. The pathfinders were due to end in March 2013. In evidence to the Education Select Committee in November 2012, Edward Timpson, Under-Secretary of State at the Department for Education, said that the pathfinders would be extended for 18 months, through to September 2014.<sup>13</sup>

Draft provisions relating to SEN reform, along with explanatory notes were published in September 2012 in *Draft legislation on Reform of provision for children and young people with Special Educational Needs.* <sup>14</sup> The Written Ministerial Statement announcing publication of the draft provisions summarised the proposed changes. The draft legislation, which consisted of 51 clauses, provided a framework for the new system and for much of the detail to be contained in regulations.

The Education Select Committee carried out the pre-legislative scrutiny of the draft SEN provisions. Its report was published on 19 December 2012, and stated that the general thrust of the reforms was sound, but worried that the draft legislation lacked detail, without which a thorough evaluation of the likely success of the Government's proposals was not possible. Alongside the Bill, the Government published the command paper, *Children and* 

Support and aspiration: a new approach to special educational needs and disability - progress and next steps, DFE, 2012

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> HC Deb 17 October 2011 c609

Oral evidence taken before the Education Committee, 6 November 2012, Q198, HC Paper 631-II, Ev30

<sup>14</sup> Cm 8438

Pre-legislative Scrutiny: Special Educational Needs, House of Commons Education Committee, Sixth Report of Session 2012-13, HC Paper 631-I, Vol. 1: Report and formal minutes; HC Paper 631-II, Vol. II: oral and written evidence; and Vol. III: additional written evidence, which is available on the Committee's website.

Families Bill 2013: Contextualised Information and Responses to the Pre-legislative Scrutiny, which included the Government's detailed response to the Committee's report. 16

#### 1.4 The Children and Families Act 2014

The *Children and Families Bill* had its First Reading in the House of Commons on 4 February 2013.

Part 3 of the Bill, made provision for identifying children and young people with special educational needs (SEN), assessing their needs and making provision for them. The changes included:

- Definitions and duties to identify children and young people with SEN;
- Local integration of education, health and care provision and joint commissioning;
- Inclusion in mainstream education;
- Personal budgets for young people with an EHC plan;
- Appeals, mediation and dispute resolution;
- Special educational provision;
- The requirement for a SEN Code of Practice

The following Library publications provide further information on the passage of the Bill:

- Children and Families Bill, RP 13/11, February 2013 (see section 4)
- Children and Families Bill Committee Stage Report, RP 13/32, May 2013 (see section 3)
- Children and Families Bill: Lords' Amendments to Part 3 (Children and Young People in England with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities), SN/SP/6815, February 2014

The *Children and Families Act 2014* received Royal Assent on 13 March 2014. The majority of sections on SEN came into force on 1 September 2014.

# 2 The new system (from September 2014)

#### 2.1 Definition of SEN

The revised SEN Code of Practice, effective from September 2014, provides the following definition of SEN:

xiv. A child or young person has SEN if they have a learning difficulty or disability which calls for special educational provision to be made for him or her.

A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a learning difficulty or disability if he or she:

 has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others of the same age, or

Children and Families Bill 2013: Contextualised Information and Responses to the Pre-legislative Scrutiny, Cm 8540, published 5 February 2013, Annex C

 has a disability which prevents or hinders him or her from making use of facilities of a kind generally provided for others of the same age in mainstream schools or mainstream post-16 institutions

xv. For children aged two or more, special educational provision is educational or training provision that is additional to or different from that made generally for other children or young people of the same age by mainstream schools, maintained nursery schools, mainstream post-16 institutions or by relevant early years providers. For a child under two years of age, special educational provision means educational provision of any kind.

xvi. A child under compulsory school age has special educational needs if he or she is likely to fall within the definition in paragraph xiv. above when they reach compulsory school age or would do so if special educational provision was not made for them (Section 20 Children and Families Act 2014).

xvii. Post-16 institutions often use the term learning difficulties and disabilities (LDD). The term SEN is used in this Code across the 0-25 age range but includes LDD.<sup>17</sup>

# 2.2 The reformed system: levels of support

The type of support that children and young people with SEN receive may vary widely, as the types of SEN that they may have are very different. However, two broad levels of support are in place: SEN support, and Education, Health and Care Plans

#### SEN Support

This will be support given to a child or young person in their pre-school, school or college. In schools, it replaces the previously existing 'School Action' and 'School Action Plus' systems.

The gov.uk website sets out that SEN support for children under 5 includes:

- · a written progress check when your child is 2 years old
- a child health visitor carrying out a health check for your child if they're aged 2 to 3
- a written assessment in the summer term of your child's first year of primary school
- making reasonable adjustments for disabled children, e.g. providing aids like tactile signs

For children of compulsory school age, the following indicative list is provided of the type of help a child might receive:

- a special learning programme
- extra help from a teacher or assistant
- to work in a smaller group
- observation in class or at break
- · help taking part in class activities
- extra encouragement in their learning, e.g. to ask questions or to try something they find difficult

Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years, July 2014, p15-16

- help communicating with other children
- support with physical or personal care difficulties, e.g. eating, getting around school safely or using the toilet

A young person of 16-25 in further education would need to contact their school or college before starting a course, to ensure their needs can be met.

#### Education, Health and Care Plans

Education, Health and Care Plans are for children and young people aged up to 25 who need more support than is available through SEN support. They are the replacement for SEN statements and Learning Difficulty Assessments (LDAs). They aim to provide more substantial help for children and young people through a unified approach that reaches across education, health care, and social care needs.

The gov.uk website sets out that parents can ask their local authority to carry out an assessment if they think their child needs an EHC plan.

A request can also be made by:

- anyone at the child's school
- a doctor
- a health visitor
- a nursery worker

A local authority has 6 weeks to decide whether or not to carry out an EHC assessment.

Further requirements on local authorities relating to EHC Plans are discussed in more detail in section 2.4 of this note.

# 2.3 The reformed system: changes from the previous system

The new 0-25 Code of Practice sets out the main changes from the previous code, published in 2001, reflecting the changes introduced by the *Children and Families Act 2014*:

- The Code of Practice (2014) covers the 0-25 age range and includes guidance relating to disabled children and young people as well as those with SEN
- There is a clearer focus on the participation of children and young people and parents in decision-making at individual and strategic levels
- There is a stronger focus on high aspirations and on improving outcomes for children and young people
- It includes guidance on the joint planning and commissioning of services to ensure close co-operation between education, health and social care
- It includes guidance on publishing a Local Offer of support for children and young people with SEN or disabilities

- There is new guidance for education and training settings on taking a graduated approach to identifying and supporting pupils and students with SEN (to replace School Action and School Action Plus) – this is called 'SEN Support'
- For children and young people with more complex needs a co-ordinated assessment process and the new 0-25 Education, Health and Care plan (EHC plan) replace statements and Learning Difficulty Assessments (LDAs)
- There is a greater focus on support that enables those with SEN to succeed in their education and make a successful transition to adulthood
- Information is provided on relevant duties under the Equality Act 2010
- Information is provided on relevant provisions of the Mental Capacity Act 2005<sup>18</sup>

### 2.4 The reformed system: implementation

Further guidance has been published on the implementation of the new SEN system, and in particular what local authorities were required to have in place from September 2014, and subsequently build upon.

#### The local offer

By September 2014, local authorities were required to have published a 'local offer' to clearly set out the services available for children with SEND. The offer must have been developed in partnership with children and young people with SEN or Disability and their parents, and education, health and care partners. It should cover the support available for those with and without EHC plans and from birth to 25 years, including SEN Support.

#### The guidance states:

The local offer must include information on services across education, health and social care and from birth to 25; how to access specialist support; how decisions are made including eligibility criteria for accessing services where appropriate; and how to complain or appeal.<sup>19</sup>

The guidance makes clear that this initial offer is intended to be the start of an ongoing process, with local offers developed and revised over time through regular review and consultation.<sup>20</sup>

# Education, Health and Care Plans: requirements on authorities

Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plans are the replacement for SEN statements and Learning Difficulty Assessments (LDAs). The SEN Code of Practice states that because the legal test of when a child required an EHC plan is the same as for a statement under the *Education Act 1996*, nobody should lose support received under a SEN statement as a result of these changes. <sup>21</sup>

While most children and young people with SEN will have their needs met by early years settings, schools, or colleges, some will need more substantial support. Where in the past a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Ibid.*, p13-14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Department for Education, *Implementing a new 0-25 special needs system: LAs and partners*, July 2014, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Ibid

<sup>21</sup> Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years, July 2014, p15

child in school, for example, might have been assessed for an SEN statement, they would now be assessed for an EHC plan which would seek to secure the best possible outcomes for them across education, health and social care.

- In conducting an EHC assessment, a local authority would be required to:
- establish and record the views, interests and aspirations of the parents and child or young person
- provide a full description of the child or young person's special educational needs and any health and social care needs
- establish outcomes across education, health and social care based on the child or young person's needs and aspirations
- specify the provision required and how education, health and care services will work together to meet the child or young person's needs and support the achievement of the agreed outcomes<sup>22</sup>

The Code of practice sets out a further expectation that young people who are currently receiving support as a result of a LDA and remain in further education or training during the transition period, who request and need an EHC plan, would be issued with one, since they have already been assessed as requiring SEN support.<sup>23</sup>

# EHC plans for 19-25 year olds with SEN

Under the reformed system, EHC plans will cover eligible students up to the age of 25. However, guidance on the legislation makes it clear that this does not mean that students have an automatic entitlement to education up to the age of 25:

9.151 In line with preparing young people for adulthood, a local authority must not cease an EHC plan simply because a young person is aged 19 or over. Young people with EHC plans may need longer in education or training in order to achieve their outcomes and make an effective transition into adulthood. However, this position does not mean that there is an automatic entitlement to continued support at age 19 or an expectation that those with an EHC plan should all remain in education until age 25. A local authority may cease a plan for a 19- to 25-year-old if it decides that it is no longer necessary for the EHC plan to be maintained. Such circumstances include where the young person no longer requires the special educational provision specified in their EHC plan. In deciding that the special educational provision is no longer required, the local authority must have regard to whether the educational or training outcomes specified in the plan have been achieved (see the section on Outcomes, paragraphs 9.64 to 9.69).<sup>24</sup>

#### Personal budgets

Young people and parents of children who have EHC plans have the right to request a Personal Budget, which may contain elements of education, social care and health funding. A Personal Budget is an amount of money identified by the local authority to deliver provision set out in an EHC plan where the parent or young person is involved in securing that provision. Local authorities must provide information on Personal Budgets as part of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Ibid.*, p142

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Ibid*, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Ibid*., p190

Local Offer. Personal Budgets are optional for the child's parent or the young person but local authorities are under a duty to prepare a budget when requested.<sup>25</sup>

A local policy should be available that includes:

- a description of the services across education, health and social care that currently lend themselves to the use of Personal Budgets
- the mechanisms of control for funding available to parents and young people including:
  - o direct payments where individuals receive the cash to contract, purchase and manage services themselves
  - o an arrangement whereby the local authority, school or college holds the funds and commissions the support specified in the EHC plan (these are sometimes called notional budgets)
  - o third party arrangements where funds (direct payments) are paid to and managed by an individual or organisation on behalf of the child's parent or the young person
  - o a combination of the above
- clear and simple statements of eligibility criteria and the decision-making processes that underpin them<sup>26</sup>

# Further requirements for September 2014 and beyond

The implementation guidance describes the requirements for local authorities from September 2014. As with the local offer, these points represented a base from which authorities are expected to further develop local provision, working alongside partners locally, rather than a final statement of what the system should provide.

Local authorities should have ensured that there is a source of independent information, advice and support for parents, and children and young people with SEN and disabilities, across education, health and care. This should include, but not be limited to, independent supporters, whose role is to directly help families of children and young people going through the new assessment and planning process.<sup>27</sup>

By September 2014, LAs should have ensured that early years settings, schools and FE colleges in their area had:

- Reviewed the 0-25 SEND Code of Practice to ensure their provision will meet the requirements on teaching, curriculum and wider policies.
- Engaged with children and young people with SEND and their families and put in place arrangements (or structures) on how they would regularly engage and discuss progress;
- Explored how they would monitor and track the progress and development of children and young people with SEN and identify and deliver any training needed by staff;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Ibid.*, p178

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Ibid.*, p48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Department for Education, *Implementing a new 0-25 special needs system:* LAs and partners, p9

- Contributed to the development of the local offer and engaging with the LA in relation to delegated funding, joint commissioning, EHC plans and implications of personal budgets
- For schools: Have arrangements in place to support pupils with medical conditions
- For schools: Published the annual SEN information report.
- Published a plan, produced with parents and young people, setting out how they will go about transferring children and young people with existing statements or LDAs to EHC Plans by April 2018.
- A co-ordinated education health and care assessment process in place which can be used to issue a final EHC plans within a maximum of 20 weeks, where children and young people need one
- A clear policy in place setting out the scope of the personal budget offer to families in September, and to be ready to respond to requests for personal budgets from families that have been assessed as needing an EHC plan.
- Commissioned access to high quality mediation for those who need it.<sup>28</sup>

Local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are required work together with partners and parents at strategic level to develop the systems set out above.

The implementation guidance also provides information on how these requirements should be developed. As well as developing and improving the local offer over time, local authorities must:

- Review children and young people currently on School Action or School Action Plus (and equivalents) and put in place SEN Support, with pupils in school or early years to have transferred by the end of spring term 2015. SEN Support is support for SEN provided to a pupil by their school or college, when a EHC plan is not required. This will include setting clear targets for progress, agreeing what support should be provided and track how it is working.
- Support new children and young people using SEN Support, using person centred approaches, and working with families;
- Record all those who need special educational provision in the school census;
- Develop partnerships with early years/post-16 providers and adult services (including employment) to ensure smooth transition between stages.
- Ensure that all young people who currently receive support as a result of a LDA who request an EHC plan and need one are issued with one;
- Ensure that all young people who currently receive support as a result of an LDA who continue in further education or training beyond 1 September 2016 have an EHC plan where one is needed;
- Ensure that all children and young people with statements are transferred to EHC plans by 1 April 2018; the transfer process must be completed within a maximum of 14 weeks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Ibid.*, p5-6

- Work with new entrants to the system to assess and issue EHC plans within 20 weeks where one is needed. You should work with those with existing statements and LDA begin transition to EHC plans in stages (see later section on transition planning for more info).
- Use joint commissioning arrangements and the local offer to deliver a year-on-year increase in the scope and availability of personal budgets.
- Make mediation available for those who want it, issuing a certificate for those who want to go straight to Tribunal.
- Over time, use those relationships to jointly commission services.<sup>29</sup>

At all stages, a collaborative approach is emphasised, aimed at producing a cultural change in the way support for SEN is provided. The guidance states:

Local authorities must ensure that children, young people, parents and carers are provided with the information, advice and support necessary to enable participation in those decisions, by developing and having in place from September effective information, advice and support services.

Local authorities must also ensure that children, young people and their parents and carers are involved in decisions about local provision.30

# Requirement for consultation with children, young people, and their parents

The Code of Practice provides information on the requirements on local authorities to consult with children and young people with SEN, as well as their parents, in carrying out all of its duties relating to SEN:

Local authorities, in carrying out their functions under the Act in relation to disabled children and young people and those with special educational needs (SEN), must have regard to:

- the views, wishes and feelings of the child or young person, and the child's parents
- the importance of the child or young person, and the child's parents, participating as fully as possible in decisions, and being provided with the information and support necessary to enable participation in those decisions
- the need to support the child or young person, and the child's parents, in order to facilitate the development of the child or young person and to help them achieve the best possible educational and other outcomes, preparing them effectively for adulthood31

The Code states that these principles are designed to support:

- the participation of children, their parents and young people in decision-making
- the early identification of children and young people's needs and early intervention to support them
- greater choice and control for young people and parents over support

<sup>30</sup> *Ibid.*. p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> *Ibid.*, p5-6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years, p19

- collaboration between education, health and social care services to provide support
- high quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people with SEN
- a focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning
- successful preparation for adulthood, including independent living and employment<sup>32</sup>

The Code of Practice sets out what these principles are intended to mean in practice, and how it is intended that they will be implemented.<sup>33</sup>

# Implementation: Further education

Separate implementation guidance has been published relating to the further education (FE) sector. As well as providing information on how FE institutions should work to fulfil their part of the reformed system, the guidance highlights new statutory duties for the FE sector that are in place now that the *Children and Families Act 2014* is in operation:

#### From September 2014:

- General FE and sixth form colleges must use their best endeavours to secure the special educational provision that the young person needs. This duty applies to all young people with SEN, with and without an Education Health and Care (EHC) plans up to age 25. Its purpose is to ensure that mainstream providers give the right support to their students with SEN. It does not apply to special post-16 institutions or special schools, as their principal purpose is to provide for this group.
- General FE and sixth form colleges, and approved special post-16 institutions will
  have a duty to admit students if the institution is named in an EHC plan. The
  decision to name an institution is following consultation and subject to some
  conditions, more detail of which is set out in the assessment and planning section
  below.
- General FE and sixth form colleges, and approved special post-16 institutions will be under a duty to co-operate with the local authority to identify and meet the needs of young people with SEN. This is a reciprocal duty, meaning that the local authority must also cooperate with colleges to ensure young people's needs are met.
- General FE and sixth form colleges, and approved special post-16 institutions must 'have regard to' the new SEND Code of Practice.<sup>34</sup>

# **SEN Improvement Test**

An already-existing provision that has continued under the new system is the SEN Improvement Test, which is one of the factors the statutory guidance states that decision-makers must take into consideration when determining a proposal to close a school.

Annex B of the guidance for decision makers on *School Organisation: Maintained Schools* sets out specific requirements for the impact on SEN provision to be taken into account when a school reorganisation is proposed, and that:

<sup>33</sup> *Ibid.*, p20-29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> *Ibid.*, p19-20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Department for Education, *Implementing a new 0 to 25 special needs system: further education*, April 2014, p7

When considering any reorganisation of provision that the LA considers to be reserved for pupils with special educational needs, including that which might lead to children being displaced, proposers will need to demonstrate how the proposed alternative arrangements are likely to lead to improvements in the standard, quality and/or range of educational provision for those children. Decision-makers should make clear how they are satisfied that this SEN improvement test has been met, including how they have taken account of parental or independent representations which question the proposer's assessment.<sup>35</sup>

Departmental Guidance published on proposed changes to an academy set out that significant changes relating to SEN provision would require approval by the Secretary of State based on a formal business case which "must demonstrate that the proposed change will not have a detrimental impact on local SEN provision."<sup>36</sup>

# 2.5 Transitional arrangements for children and young people in the existing system

Transitional arrangements are in place to support the changeover from the previous system to the reformed system. During the transition period, local authorities must continue to comply with the relevant legislation for children with SEN statements and young people with LDAs.

#### Children in school

As of 1 September 2014, it is no longer be possible to request an assessment of special educational needs under the *Education Act 1996*. For a child or young person who does not already have a statement of SEN, no new LDAs can be commenced. While all existing cases should be transferred to the new system by April 2018, a timetable is in place for the transition of children and young people at various points in their educations to be made.

The Government has published transition guidance which provides the following information on when children and young people with SEN statements should be transferred to the reformed system.

In 2014/15, local authorities should aim to transfer to the new system, barring exceptional circumstances:

- children and young people with statements of SEN issued with non-statutory EHC plans before 1 September 2014
- those moving from early years settings to school (including where the child remains at the same institution)
- those moving from an infant to a junior school
- those moving from primary to middle school
- those moving from primary to secondary school
- those moving from middle to secondary school
- those moving from mainstream to a special school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Department for Education, *School Organisation: Maintained Schools: Annex B: Guidance for Decision Makers*, January 2014, p12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Department for Education, *Making significant changes to an existing academy*, January 2014, p7 and 14

- those moving from a special to a mainstream school
- children in year 9
- all children in year 6, not just those who are transferring from one institution to another (in 2014/15, local authorities must take account of the wishes of families of children in year 6 in determining whether to conduct a transfer review in that academic year)
- all children and young people in year 11, not just those who are moving into further education or training (including those who are leaving custody)
- · those moving between one local authority and another
- those who receive direct payments, under the SEN Direct Payments Pilot Scheme, for SEN provision in their statement of SEN or Learning Difficulties Assessment (these children and young people will need to be transferred to EHC plans by 30 September 2015 if their direct payments are to continue), and
- Children and young people leaving custody<sup>37</sup>

The guidance then provides that, between 1 September 2015 and 31 March 2018, local authorities must transfer children and young people with statements of SEN to the new arrangements in year 9, and prior to them moving from:

- early years settings to school (including where the child remains at the same institution)
- an infant to a junior school
- primary to middle school
- primary to secondary school
- middle to secondary school
- school (including school sixth forms) to a post-16 institution or an apprenticeship including those in year 11 released from custody)
- mainstream to a special school, or
- special school to a mainstream school

Additionally, local authorities should aim to transfer the following groups of children and young people from 1 September 2016 to 31 March 2018:

- all children with statements of SEN in year 6, not just those who are transferring from one institution to another
   – local authorities must consult the child's parent on whether to secure an EHC assessment
- all children and young people in year 11, not just those who are moving into further education
- children and young people leaving custody

Department for Education, Transition to the new 0 to 25 special educational needs and disability system, August 2014, p22-23

- children and young people with statements of SEN issued with non-statutory EHC plans before 1 September 2014 (where this expectation has not been met in 2014/15), and
- those moving between one local authority and another<sup>38</sup>

# Young people in Further Education

The existing LDA system will be abolished before the system of statements for children in school. The LDA system was less comprehensive, and to remove this disparity young people with an LDA must be moved over to the new system by 1 September 2016.<sup>39</sup>

Some further details on how the transition will affect those with LDAs are provided by the guidance:

5.21 Between 1 September 2014 and 31 August 2016, young people up to the age of 25 in further education or training who receive support to meet their special educational needs as a result of a LDA and who **do not intend** to continue in further education or training beyond that period can choose to either:

- continue to receive their support as a result of their LDA (where it is still required)
  until the end of their time in further education or training or until 1 September 2016
  whichever comes first, or
- request an EHC needs assessment<sup>40</sup>

[...]

5.23 During academic year 2014/15, young people in further education or training who receive support to meet their special educational needs as a result of a LDA and who **intend** to continue in education beyond 31 August 2016 can also choose to either:

- continue to receive their support as a result of their LDA (where it is still required)
- request an EHC needs assessment<sup>41</sup>

[...]

5.25 From 1 September 2014 local authorities should take all reasonable steps to inform young people in further education or training who receive support as a result of a LDA of their option to request an EHC needs assessment and how this could benefit them (e.g. planning focused on outcomes, social care and health input, personal budget, right of appeal).<sup>42</sup>

# 2.6 Young people in custody

The provisions in the *Children and Families Act 2014* relating to those in youth custody (and described in Chapter 10 of the Code of Practice<sup>43</sup>) will not come into force until April 2015.

The SEN implementation guidance states that:

<sup>38</sup> *Ibid.*, p23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Ibid.*, p20

<sup>40</sup> *Ibid.*, p25

<sup>41</sup> *Ibid.*, p26

<sup>42</sup> *Ibid.*, p26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Department for Education, *Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years*, p219-228

We are publishing the young offenders section of the Code before developing regulations to give local authorities, custodial institutions and other key stakeholders the opportunity to consider the changes to their roles and responsibilities, to feed into the consultation on the regulations to be held in autumn 2014, and prepare for implementation. (p28)

The consultation, with draft regulations, was published on 22 October 2014, and remains open until 19 November 2014.<sup>44</sup>

# 3 Funding

Funding for SEN in England is not allocated as a separate amount per pupil. SEN funding is part of the overall Dedicated Schools Grant allocated to each local authority to fund their schools budget. It is for local authorities, in consultation with their schools forums, to determine the individual allocation to schools.

The following PQ response provides information on SEN funding for maintained schools:

**Steve McCabe:** To ask the Secretary of State for Education whether special educational needs coordinators are able to request funds from his Department for extra assistance with SEN students in maintained schools. [201299]

**Mr Timpson:** The Department for Education does not give funds directly to local authority maintained schools. Funds for extra assistance with students with special educational needs (SEN) come from schools' budgets and, if the extra cost is more than £6,000 per year for an individual student, from local authorities in the form of topup funding for the school. Local authorities can also give extra funding to schools with a disproportionate number of pupils with SEN. Special educational needs coordinators should therefore seek any additional funds required from the relevant local authority. 45

Mainstream academies are in a similar position, as the gov.uk website sets out alongside funding information for special academies:

Mainstream academies (leaving aside any special units within them) are expected to contribute towards the cost of the additional educational support provision for high needs pupils and students, up to £6,000 from their school budget share. Their notional SEN budget is indicated in table A of their funding allocation pack. Specific post-16 allocations, if applicable, will show how much of the formula funding the LA has attributed to meeting SEN support costs. This is a notional amount and academies can spend more or less on the special educational provision their pupils need, as required.

Special academies and academies with special units or resourced provision receive £10,000 per place for each SEN place. Academies making alternative provision (AP) receive £8,000 for each AP place, as part of their payments.

The charity Independent Parental Special Education Advice (IPSEA), have produced a helpful briefing on changes to SEN funding that were introduced from April 2013, which provides more background on SEN funding.<sup>46</sup>

General information about school funding can be found in the Library standard note, *School funding: moving towards a national funding formula*, SN/SP/6702.

<sup>44</sup> Department for Education, SEN and disability: detained persons regulations and revised code, 22 October 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> HC Deb 23 Jun 2014 c83W

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> IPSEA, School Funding Reform: SEN Funding, May 2013